### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

\* \* \* \* \*

CARA O'KEEFE, AN INDIVIDUAL,

Appellant,

Case No.: 68460

VS.

THE STATE OF NEVADA DEPARTMENT OF MOTOR VEHICLES,

Respondent.

# EXHIBITS 1 THROUGH 5 TO APPELLANT'S PETITION FOR REVIEW BY THE SUPREME COURT

In Conjunction With Legal Aid Center of Southern Nevada

Malani L. Kotchka Nevada Bar No. 283 HEJMANOWSKI & McCREA LLC 520 South Fourth Street, Suite 320 Las Vegas, NV 89101 (702) 834-8777

Attorneys for Appellant Cara O'Keefe Attorneys for Respondent

### **CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE**

The undersigned does hereby certify that pursuant to NRAP 25(c), a true and correct copy of the foregoing **EXHIBITS 1 THROUGH 5 TO APPELLANT'S PETITION FOR REVIEW BY THE SUPREME COURT** was filed electronically with the Nevada Supreme Court Electronic Filing System, and a copy was served electronically on this 17th day of February, 2017, to the following:

Jordan T. Smith Assistant Solicitor General Office of the Attorney General 555 E. Washington Avenue, Suite 3900 Attorneys for Respondent

And a true and correct copy of the forgoing **EXHIBITS 1 THROUGH 5 TO APPELLANT'S PETITION FOR REVIEW BY THE SUPREME COURT**was mailed on this 17th day of February, 2017, by U.S. first class mail, postage prepaid, to the following:

Sara Feest Legal Aid Center of Southern Nevada 725 E. Charleston Blvd. Las Vegas, NV 89104

An Employee of Hejmanowski & McCrea LLC

## **EXHIBIT 1**

### EXHIBIT 1

### IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

CARA O'KEEFE, AN INDIVIDUAL, Appellant, vs. THE STATE OF NEVADA DEPARTMENT OF MOTOR VEHICLES, Respondent.

No. 68460

FILED

JAN 30 2017

CLERK OF SUPPEME COURT
BY CHIEF DEPUTY CLERK

### ORDER OF AFFIRMANCE

This is an appeal from an order granting a petition for judicial review and setting aside a hearing officer's decision. First Judicial District Court, Carson City; James E. Wilson, Judge.

Appellant Cara O'Keefe was dismissed by the Department of Motor Vehicles ("DMV") for violating several policies, including a policy prohibiting employees from accessing or using information outside their scope of responsibilities for non-business reasons. Under the DMV's Prohibitions and Penalties, a violation of this policy requires dismissal. O'Keefe appealed her dismissal, and a hearing officer found that discretionary discipline was allowed. The hearing officer reversed O'Keefe's dismissal, finding a lesser disciplinary action was appropriate. The hearing officer also noted due process concerns with the timing of the DMV's investigation into O'Keefe's conduct. The DMV filed a petition for judicial review and the district court set aside the hearing

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>We do not recount the facts except as necessary to our disposition.

officer's decision, concluding dismissal was mandatory under the DMV's Prohibitions and Penalties, and therefore, the hearing officer's decision was arbitrary and capricious.

In this appeal, O'Keefe contends the hearing officer's decision was within the hearing officer's statutory authority and the DMV's dismissal of O'Keefe violated her due process rights.

A hearing officer's role is to "determine the reasonableness of a dismissal, demotion, or suspension." NRS 284.390(1); Taylor v. Dep't of Health and Human Servs., 129 Nev. 928, 930, 314 P.3d 949, 950-51 (2013). A dismissal is "reasonable" if it would "serve the good of the public service." NRS 284.385(1)(a); Knapp v. State ex rel. Dep't of Prisons, 111 Nev. 420, 424, 892 P.2d 575, 577 (1995). "When reviewing a district court's [order regarding] a petition for judicial review of an agency decision, this court engages in the same analysis as the district court." Rio All Suite Hotel & Casino v. Phillips, 126 Nev. 346, 349, 240 Thus, we "review the evidence presented to the P.3d 2, 4 (2010). administrative body and ascertain whether that body acted arbitrarily or capriciously, thus abusing its discretion." Gandy v. State ex rel. Div. Investigation, 96 Nev. 281, 282, 607 P.2d 581, 582 (1980). See Morgan v. State, Dep't of Bus. & Indus., Taxicab Auth., No. 67944, 2016 WL 2944701 (Ct. App. May 16, 2016). This court may set a hearing officer's decision aside if it rests on an error of law or constitutes an abuse of State v. Tatalovich, 129 Nev. 588, 590, 309 P.3d 43, 44 discretion. (2013). We review de novo the hearing officer's conclusions of law, insofar as they concern purely legal questions. Knapp, 111 Nev. at 423, 892 P.2d at 577.

(O) 1947B

In this case, the hearing officer abused her discretion by ruling that the DMV's Prohibitions and Penalties allowed for discretionary discipline for O'Keefe's actions. The DMV's disciplinary procedures were approved by the Personnel Commission pursuant to NRS 284.383(1), which requires that the Commission adopt measures for disciplining state employees. The inconsistency in the internal memorandum by the DMV did not change a disciplinary policy that had been adopted by the Personnel Commission.

Because the DMV's Prohibitions and Penalties mandated dismissal for O'Keefe's actions, there is not substantial evidence in the record to support the hearing officer's determination that O'Keefe's dismissal would not serve the good of the public service. By adopting the DMV's Prohibitions and Penalties, the Personnel Commission effectively determined that O'Keefe's conduct is a "serious violation] of law or regulation" justifying dismissal. See NRS 284.383(1). The hearing officer's ruling to the contrary was arbitrary and based on an error of law.

Additionally, the hearing officer's due process "concerns" are without legal significance as no findings of fact or conclusions of law were made. Additionally, the DMV followed the proper procedure in investigating O'Keefe' conduct. The delay was due to O'Keefe transfer-

ring to a different department, at which point the DMV lost the ability to discipline or investigate O'Keefe.2 Accordingly, we

ORDER the judgment of the district court AFFIRMED.

Tao

Hon. James E. Wilson, District Judge cc: Cara O'Keefe Attorney General/Carson City Brandon R. Price Attorney General/Reno Carson City Clerk

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>NAC 284.638(1) states a "supervisor" must promptly inform an employee about a violation. At the time that the DMV learned of O'Keefe's conduct, her supervisor would have been someone within the. Division of Insurance. In addition, there is no support in statutes or caselaw for O'Keefe's assertion that an agency may use its policies to discipline an employee once the employee leaves the agency.

### **EXHIBIT 2**

### EXHIBIT 2

### BEFORE THE NEVADA STATE PERSONNEL COMMISSION HEARING OFFICER

CARA O'KEEFE,

Petitioner-Employee,

Case No.: CC-07-13-JG

ws.

STATE OF NEVADA, ex. rel., its DEPARTMENT OF MOTOR VEHICLES,

Respondent-Employer.

### FINDINGS OF FACT, CONCLUSIONS OF LAW AND DECISION

THIS MATTER CAME on for an administrative hearing before the undersigned Administrative Hearing Officer for the Nevada State Personnel Commission on the 25th day of March, 2014, pursuant to the Petitioner-Employee's appeal from termination from State employment. Petitioner-Employee was present and represented by Jeffrey S. Blanck, Esq. Respondent-Employer was represented by Cynthia R. Hoover, Esq., Deputy Attorney General. The evidence of record consists of testimony from ten witnesses, Respondent-Employer's exhibits marked A through C, and Employee-Petitioner's exhibits marked 2 and 3.

The undersigned Administrative Hearing Officer, having heard the testimony presented, and considered the exhibits offered and the arguments of the parties, does hereby make the following Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law and Decision.

#### FINDINGS OF FACT

Cara O'Keefe (hereinafter referred to as "Employee") was employed as a revenue officer for the DMV Motor Carrier Division. [Specificity of Charges, Employer's Exhibit A]. Employee was initially hired with the DMV from December 11, 2006 until December 5, 2012, and then rehired on September 16, 2013. [Exhibit A]. She has not had any prior disciplinary actions.

As set forth in the Specificity of Charges, Employee has received the following performance evaluations:

12/11/11 Exceeds Standards 12/11/10 Exceeds Standards 12/11/09 Exceeds Standards 12/11/08 Exceeds Standards 11/11/07 Meets Standards 07/11/07 Exceeds Standards 03/11/07 Meets Standards

On September 16, 2013, Employee received the Notice of Employee Rights During an Internal Investigation ("Notice").

[Exhibit A. p. 11]. The Notice states that Employee is the subject of internal administrative investigation relevant to a violation of the Department of Motor Vehicles Computer Usage policy:

### Information Abuse

As found in NRS 242.105, NRS 281 section 1, and NAC 284.650:

Information contained in DMV system record is for use only for Departmental business and is proprietary information. Information from the DMV System should not be used for any

purpose other than for completing authorized transactions for customers.

1. The use, or manipulation of, production data or information outside the scope of one's job responsibilities, or for non-business or personal reasons, is strictly prohibited and may be subject to prosecution under NRS 205.481.

The Notice also informed Employee of her questioning session on September 18, 2013, and her right to have counsel present. Also on September 16, 2013, Employee received notice that she is being placed on paid administrative leave, effective that day. [Exhibit A, p. 13]. On October 8, 2013 Employee received another Notice of Employee Rights, reiterating the same allegations, and informing her of a scheduled questioning on October 10, 2013. [Exhibit A, p. 15]

On November 22, 2013, Employee received the NPD-41 ("Specificity of Charges"), in which Karen Stoll, Revenue Officer III of the DMV, informed Employee that it is in the best interest of the State of Nevada to terminate her State service. The Specificity of Charges references the following causes for disciplinary action under Nevada Administrative Code (NAC) 284.650:

- 1. Activity which is incompatible with an employee's conditions of employment established by law or which violates provisions of NAC 284.653 or 284.738 to 284.771, inclusive.
  - 6. Insubordination or willful disobedience.
  - 18. Misrepresentation of official capacity or authority.

1.4

<sup>&#</sup>x27;Employer's Exbibit A.

The Specificity of Charges further references the following Department of Motor Vehicles Prohibitions and Penalties ("DMVPP") as follows:

#### B. PERFORMANCE ON THE JOB

1

2

3

5

6

7

₿

9

10

11

12

13

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

27

28

23. Disregard and/or deliberate failure to comply with or enforce statewide, department or office regulations and policies.

### C. NEGLECT OF, OR INEXCUSABLE ABSENCE FROM, THE JOB 4. Conducting personal business during working hours.

#### G. MISUSE OF INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY

1. The use, or manipulation of production data or information outside the scope of one's job responsibilities, or for non-business or personal reasons, is strictly prohibited and may be subject to prosecution under NRS 205.481.

#### H. OTHER ACTS OF MISCONDUCT OR INCOMPATABILITY

- 4. Unauthorized or improper disclosure of confidential information.
- 7. Acting in an official capacity without authorization.

The basis for the suspension is set forth in the "Summary of Facts" section on page 2 of the Specificity of Charges, which includes the following:

The results of the investigation, validated by your own admission and the information obtained through the DMV CARRS (formerly known as DMV Application) access reports for your user ID, confirm you accessed the confidential DMV database information for reasons outside the scope of duty.

The CARRS report shows that you accessed the records of a male citizen on 7 occasions. You identified your relationship with the male friend as a family friend. You reported having helped the citizen with a DUI situation and reported the reason for accessing his records on two occasions was to obtain a date from the record and to look up his address.

The CARRS report shows you accessed the records of a female citizen on 3 occasions. You identified the female citizen as the wife of the male citizen and provided many

details about the two's personal lives, demonstrating a familiar relationship with both.

1

5

6

7

8

10

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

In addition to the CARRS report, information obtained during the course of the investigation and by your own admission, supports you also discussed information related to the male citizen with the Carson City Sheriff, representing yourself as an employee of the DMV, for personal reasons outside the normal scope of duty.

Based on the above, Employer concluded as follows on page 8 of the Specificity of Charges (NPD-41):

As a state employee, you represent the state of Nevada; your actions and your negligence are the actions of the agency and this causes the Department to lose credibility with the customers, the public and the other government entities with which we work. If confidentiality of records and data is compromised for personal gain or use, then the state is at risk for liability for breach of confidentiality. If working relationships with law enforcement agencies are breached by misrepresenting the authority you have to obtain information, then the trust between these agencies is violated and again confidentiality is breached.

Administrator, Carter, 6, 2013, Terri On December Management Services and Programs, DMV, held a pre-disciplinary hearing. [Employer's Exhibit B, pp. 49-52]. Ms. Carter noted that the act was outside the scope of her responsibilities and reasons, and concurred personal done for recommendation to terminate Employee. On December 13, 2013, Director, DMV, stated in that "[i]t is my Troy Dillard, determination, after review of the Specificity of Charges; your hearing; the pre-disciplinary the statements during recommendation of Ms. Carter; and the recommendation of your supervisor, it is in the best interest of the State of Nevada

to terminate your employment." [Employer's Exhibit C, pp. 61-63]. Employee filed a timely appeal.

Following opening statements at the hearing on March 25, 2014, Employer called Cara O'keefe (Employee) as its first witness. Employee stated that she had worked as a revenue officer for the motor carrier division of the DMV for seven years. She said that she left the DMV on December 5, 2012, and went to work for the Division of Insurance for seven months. She also said that she was rejected from probation at the Division of Insurance, so the DMV had to take her back. stated that her job duties at the DMV involved licensing, for big rigs and personal registration, taxes accounts, sending out letters, delinguent collection of locating debtors, and filing tax liens. Employee further testified that Motor Carrier employees have no authority to issue drivers licenses, and they do not deal with DUI's. If they get those calls they refer them to another DMV division. Employee stated that Motor Carrier employees may use the confidential database, but not for personal or non-business reasons, and DMV Policy prohibits employees from conducting personal transactions. Employee acknowledged that she signed and understood the Memorandum from then DMV Director Bruce Breslow, which states that a first offense of the Prohibition

28

1

2

3

4

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

and Penalty G(1) "can result in termination." [Exhibit A, p. 1 48]. Employee said that there is nothing in this document that 3 permits an employee to look up documents even if a friend gives them permission. Employee also referenced the DMV Computer Usage Policy Manual, dated September 15, 2011 [Exhibit A, pp. 6 19, 44], which provides that [i]nformation from the DMV System 7 should not be used for any purpose other than for completing Я authorized transactions for customers." Employee stated that 9 10 she accessed the confidential DMV database for her friend 11 Daniel and to look up his wife's records, and she had a 12 discussion with both of them about accessing the records, 13 Employee acknowledged that Exhibit A, p. 17 is a log of when 14 she accessed their records, which indicates that she accessed 15 16 Daniel's records in July, August, September and November of 17 2012. She admitted that she first called the Carson City 18 Sheriff's Office and asked them about the process after a DUI, 19 and she provided them with Daniel's driver's license, which she 20 obtained from him and not the DMV Database. She said that she 21 22 accessed Daniel's records from the database because he asked 23 her information and she was helping him fill out paperwork. She 24 admitted that she "could and should" have referred him to Field

25

26

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>Prohibition and Penalty G(1) provides that "[t]he use, or manipulation of, production data or information outside the scope of one's job responsibilities, or for non-business or personal reasons, is strictly prohibited and may be subject to prosecution under NRS 205.481."

10

26

27

Services or Central Services. She also said that Daniel was not getting his paperwork, but he was too embarrassed to go to the DMV because he knew some of the people there. Employee acknowledged that Daniel and his wife were not her customers. She did not recall telling the investigator that she did not access Daniel's wife's records. She said that she called the Sheriff's Office during her break, but she looked at the records during her work hours while she was not conducting official business.

Next, Employer called DMV Revenue Officer Angie Messman as a witness. She stated that she worked for four years in the Motor Carrier Division of the DMV as a Revenue Officer 2. She assesses fines if carriers are late on assessments and previous fines. Ms. Messman said that she was Employee's coworker for several years, and they sat next to each other, with a partition in between, but they could still hear each other. Ms. Messman testified that in August of 2012 she heard Employee make a phone call, ask to talk to Erica, identify herself as a DMV employee, and state that a "customer had returned again." Ms. Messman said that she heard Employee say that there was a fax regarding a driver's license that had not been returned or received, but she did not recall if she mentioned a DUI. Ms. Messman further testified that they do not deal directly with customers, or licensing for customers, or DUI issues. She said

that they may check licenses to make sure they have the correct person responsible for the vehicle in order to put a lien on a vehicle, but if someone called them with a license issue she would refer them to the License Division. Sometime in December of 2012 she reported this phone call to Karen in Management. Ms. Messman added that she did not immediately go to Karen after the phone call because in the past she had complained to Karen about Employee regarding a procedure, and Karen had said that Employee's conduct was okay.

On cross-examination Ms. Messman said that her job function includes reporting on co-workers, but there is nothing in writing about this duty. She also said that they do not need to go into the same system when they are filing a lien, and they do not see a license when filing a lien. For a lien they fill out a form and go to the County Recorder. Ms. Messman said that after August 10th there were no other incidents with Employee.

On redirect Ms. Messman said that she remembers this incident because she wrote down the details on a sticky pad since Employee misrepresented herself to another agency, and stated that the "customer had returned" even though he [Daniel] was not her customer.

In response to a Hearing Officer question, Ms. Messman said that they only have to log into the System to get a

10 11

26

27

Services or Central Services. She also said that Daniel was not getting his paperwork, but he was too embarrassed to go to the DMV because he knew some of the people there. acknowledged that Daniel and his wife were not her customers. She did not recall telling the investigator that she did not access Daniel's wife's records. She said that she called the Sheriff's Office during her break, but she looked at the records during her work hours while she was not conducting official business.

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