IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

CARA O'KEEFE, AN INDIVIDUAL

Appellant,

vs.

STATE OF NEVADA DEPARTMENT OF MOTOR VEHICLES,

Respondent.

Case No. 68460

Electronically Filed May 22 2017 08:25 a.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

RESPONDENT'S RESPONSE TO APPELLANT'S PETITION FOR REVIEW

ADAM PAUL LAXALT

Attorney General of Nevada

JORDAN T. SMITH

Assistant Solicitor General

DOMINIKA J. BATTEN

Deputy Attorney General

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL

555 East Washington Avenue, Suite 3900

Las Vegas, NV 89101

Telephone: (702) 486-3420

Email: jsmith@ag.nv.gov

Attorneys for Respondent

QUESTION PRESENTED

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

III. ARGUMENT

A. Standard of Review

This Court reviews a petition for judicial review in the same way a district court reviews a hearing officer's decision. *Rio All Suite Hotel & Casino v. Phillips*, 126 Nev. 346, 349, 240 P.3d 2, 4 (2010). Thus, this Court may set aside a hearing officer's decision if it is, among other things, affected by an error of law or "[a]rbitrary or capricious or characterized by abuse of discretion." NRS 233B.135(3)(d), (f). A hearing officer abuses its discretion when it applies an incorrect legal standard. *See Staccato v. Valley Hosp.*, 123 Nev. 526, 530, 170 P.3d 503, 506 (2007). And a hearing officer's conclusions of law—like questions of statutory interpretation—are reviewed *de novo. See City Plan Dev., Inc. v. Office of Labor Com'r*, 121 Nev. 419, 426, 117 P.3d 182,

187 (2005); Dykema v. Del Webb Communities, Inc., 132 Nev. Adv. Op. 82, 385 P.3d 977, 979 (2016).

B. Hearing Officers are Limited to Reviewing for Substantial Evidence.

NRS 284.390 sets forth the standard of review that hearing officers must apply when reviewing an executive branch agency's disciplinary decision. The relevant subsection states that "[i]f the hearing officer determines that the dismissal, demotion or suspension was without just cause as provided in NRS 284.385, the action must be set aside and the employee must be reinstated, with full pay for the period of dismissal, demotion or suspension." NRS 284.390(6) (emphasis added).⁴ In turn, NRS 284.385(1)(a) provides that "[a]n appointing authority may...[d]ismiss or demote any permanent classified employee when the appointing authority considers that the good of the public service will be served thereby." (emphasis added).

When those provisions are read together, a hearing officer's review is limited to determining whether "just cause," NRS 284.390(6), supports the "appointing

NRS 294.390(1) also indicates that the hearing officer "determine[s] the reasonableness of the action." Courts equate reasonableness review with abuse of discretion review. See, e.g., Gall v. U.S., 552 U.S. 38, 46 (2007) ("Our explanation of 'reasonableness' review...made it pellucidly clear that the familiar abuse-of-discretion standard of review now applies..."); Roland Mach. Co. v. Dresser Indus., Inc., 749 F.2d 380, 390 (7th Cir. 1984) (Posner, J.) (discussing standards of review and stating "discretion is abused only where no reasonable man would take the view adopted by the trial court.") (quotation omitted). And this Court has held that there is no abuse of discretion if substantial evidence supports the discretionary act. City of Las Vegas v. Laughlin, 111 Nev. 557, 558, 893 P.2d 383, 384 (1995). Therefore, hearing officers properly review for substantial evidence even if "reasonableness" is the appropriate standard instead of "just cause."

authority's" decision "that the good of the public service will be served" by the appointing authority's chosen disciplinary action. NRS 284.385(1)(a); see also Hernandez v. Bennett-Haron, 128 Nev. Adv. Op. 54, 287 P.3d 305, 316 (2012) (noting that this Court will read statutes in harmony). The only remaining question is the meaning of "just cause" in NRS 284.390(6).

But this Court defined "just cause" in the employee-termination context in *Southwest Gas Corp. v. Vargas*, 111 Nev. 1064, 901 P.2d 693 (1995). There, after an extensive investigation, an employee was terminated for sexual harassment. *Id.* at 1065-68, 901 P.2d at 694-95. Later, the terminated employee sued for breach of contract contending that the company agreed that he could only be terminated for cause following progressive discipline. *Id.* at 1068, 901 P.2d at 695. The employee asserted that his conduct did not amount to "good cause" to terminate. *Id.* at 1073, 901 P.2d at 698. Eventually, a jury returned a verdict for the terminated employee and the company appealed. *Id.* at 1070-71, 901 P.2d at 697.

Before this Court, the parties disputed the role of the jury. *Id.* at 1073, 901 P.2d at 698. The company argued that the jury was limited to assessing whether the company had a "reasonable belief" that the employee committed sexual harassment. *Id.* at 1073-74, 901 P.2d at 698-99. On the other hand, the employee asserted that the lower court properly allowed the jury to review the employee's conduct *de novo* and determine whether he actually committed sexual harassment. *Id.* at 1073-74, 901 P.2d at 698-99.

This Court sided with the company. It held that "the employer is the ultimate finder of facts constituting good cause for termination." Id. at 1075, 901 P.2d at 700. This Court warned that allowing a jury to trump the good faith factual findings of the employer "would create the equivalent of a preeminent fact-finding board unconnected to the challenged employer, that would have the ultimate right to determine anew whether the employer's decision to terminate an employee was based upon an accurate finding of misconduct..." Id. at 1075, 901 P.2d at 699. This Court continued, "[t]his ex officio 'fact-finding board,' unattuned to the practical aspects of employee suitability over which it would exercise consummate power, and unexposed to the entrepreneurial risks that form a significant basis of every state's economy, would be empowered to impose substantial monetary consequences on employers whose employee termination decisions are found wanting." *Id.* This Court ruled that, unless expressly stated in contract or statute, employers have not ceded to reviewing bodies the authority to define "serious misconduct." See id. at 1080, 901 P.2d at 703.

To guard against these concerns, this Court held "that a discharge for 'just' or 'good' cause is one which is not for any arbitrary, capricious, or illegal reason and which is one based on facts (1) *supported by substantial evidence*, and (2) reasonably believed by the employer to be true." *Id.* at 1078, 901 P.2d at 701 (emphasis added). Hence, a reviewing body is restricted to assessing whether the employer's decision was made in good faith and supported by substantial evidence. *Id.* at 1079, 901 P.2d at 702. Under that standard, this Court reversed the jury's verdict in favor of the terminated

employee. Id. at 1079-80, 901 P.2d at 702-03.

Applying the *Southwest Gas* definition of "just case" to NRS 284.390(6) is consistent with the statutory scheme and protects the same interests that the Executive Branch possesses as an employer. Indeed, the Court of Appeals has relied on *Southwest Gas* when reviewing other hearing officer decisions in state employment disputes. *Morgan v. State, Dep't of Bus. & Indus., Taxicah Auth.*, No. 67944, 2016 WL 2944701, at *2 (Nev. App. May 16, 2016) (unpublished disposition) (citing *Southwest Gas* and affirming 80-hour suspension because the Administrator's decision was with "just cause" and supported by substantial evidence).

The *Southwest Gas* standard is also consistent with this Court's earlier case law. For instance, in *Lapinski v. City of Reno*, 95 Nev. 898, 603 P.2d 1088 (1979), a city employee was terminated and he sought a hearing before the city council to contest the decision. On appeal, this Court said that "[t]he determinative issue in this case is whether there was substantial evidence placed before the City Council from which it could have made a finding that legal cause existed to terminate [the employee's] employment with the City of Reno." *Id.* at 901, 603 P.2d at 1090. The city council's hearing function was not to make a fresh determination. *See id.*

Thus, under both *Southwest Gas* and *Lapinski*, any review of an adverse employment action is limited to assessing whether substantial evidence exists to support the employer's decision. The inquiry is not whether the hearing officer would have made the same determination "that the good of the public service will be served

thereby." NRS 284.385(1)(a). Rather, the inquiry is whether substantial evidence supports the *appointing authority's* "good of the public service" decision. This standard mandates that the hearing officer give deference to the appointing authority's view of the facts.

Dredge v. State ex. rel. Department of Prisons also supports giving deference to an appointing authority's disciplinary decision. Citing NRS 284.385 and NRS 294.390, the Dredge court held that "[i]t was the task of the hearing officer to determine whether NDOP's decision to terminate Dredge was based upon evidence that would enable NDOP to conclude that the good of the public service would be served by Dredge's dismissal." 105 Nev. 39, 42, 769 P.2d 56, 58 (1989). This is the same inquiry that Southwest Gas and Lapinski require.

But *Dredge* is most often cited for the next sentence: "Moreover, the critical need to maintain a high level of security within the prison system entitles the appointing authority's decision to deference by the hearing officer whenever security concerns are implicated in an employee's termination." *Id.* While security concerns may entitle the Department of Prisons or other "security programs" to an extra measure of deference in their employment decisions, nothing in *Dredge* or the statutory scheme indicates that hearing officers *only* give deference to the Department of Prisons or "security programs." And nothing in *Dredge* hints that hearing officers review *de novo* all other executive agency decisions. The statutes mandate the same approach for all executive branch agencies and they are entitled to deference when

reviewing their employment decisions.

A non-deferential standard of review allows hearing officers to second guess an appointing authority's employment decisions and exercise functions that belong solely to the Executive Branch. *See Costantino*, at 3 n.2 (Hardesty, J., dissenting). Under the statutory scheme, "[i]t is not the duty of the hearing officer to substitute its judgment for the employing agency's judgment." *Id.* (citing *see City of Rancho Palos Verdes v. Abrams*, 544 U.S. 113, 128 (2005)).

This Court has previously stressed that hearing officers cannot exercise the power of appointing authorities. *Taylor v. Dep't of Health & Human Servs.*, 129 Nev. Adv. Op. 99, 314 P.3d 949, 950-51 (2013). In *Taylor*, this Court rejected an employee's suggestion "that the hearing officer should make the decision about the appropriate level of discipline because the hearing officer is the 'fact finding tribunal...." *Id.* at 950. The Court held "that pursuant to the clear and unambiguous language of NRS Chapter 284, while hearing officers may determine the reasonableness of disciplinary actions and recommend appropriate levels of discipline, only appointing authorities have the power to prescribe the actual discipline imposed on permanent classified state employees." *Id.* at 950-51.

Likewise, under the plain language of NRS 284.385(1)(a), only appointing authorities have the power to decide that dismissal or demotion will serve the good of the public service. And just as hearing officers cannot prescribe the amount of discipline, they also cannot "consider[] [if] the good of the public service will be

served" by dismissal or demotion. *Cf.* NRS 284.385(1)(a); *Taylor*, 129 Nev. Adv. Op. 99, 314 P.3d at 950-51. A hearing officer's only function is to determine if there was substantial evidence before the appointing authority from which it could conclude that the employee committed misconduct warranting dismissal. *See Lapinski*, 95 Nev. at 901, 603 P.2d at 1090; *Southwest Gas*, 111 Nev. at 1078, 901 P.2d at 701.⁵ Or, in other words, the only issue before a hearing officer is whether the appointing authority's decision to terminate was based on evidence that would enable the appointing authority to conclude that the good of the public service would be served by dismissal. *See* NRS 284.385(1)(a); *see also Dredge* 105 Nev. at 42, 769 P.2d at 58.

The Court's contrary statements in *Knapp v. State ex rel. Department of Prisons*, 111 Nev. 420, 892 P.2d 575, (1995) are an aberration. Without discussing *Lapinski* or citing any authority at all, the *Knapp* Court proclaimed that "[g]enerally, a hearing officer does not defer to the appointing authority's decision." *Id.* at 424, 892 P.2d at 577.6 And the Court said that "[a] hearing officers task is to determine whether there is evidence showing that a dismissal would serve the good of the public service. *Id.* But this statement is directly contradicted by NRS 284.385(1)(a), which provides that demotion or dismissal is appropriate "when the *appointing authority* considers that the good of the public service will served thereby." (emphasis added). By statute, it is the appointing authority's task—not the hearing officer's—to decide whether dismissal

⁵ See also Costantino, at 1 (Hardesty, J., dissenting).

State ex rel. Dep't of Prisons v. Jackson, 111 Nev. 770, 773, 895 P.2d 1296, 1298 (1995) (similar).

P.3d at 950-51 (holding that hearing officers cannot exercise the powers of appointing authorities). To the extent that Knapp conflicts with NRS 284.385(1)(a), it should be overruled.

Even if this Court declines to overrule *Knapp*, it is factually distinguishable from this case. In *Knapp*, the Department of Prisons conceded before the district court "that dismissal was not appropriate absent the additional charges which the hearing officer had found unproven." *Knapp*, 111 Nev. at 425, 892 P.2d at 578. By contrast, DMV made no such concession here and the Hearing Officer actually found that substantial evidence existed to support DMV's finding that O'Keefe committed the misconduct. *Knapp* therefore should be limited to its facts.

In this case, the Hearing Officer improperly conducted "independent" *de novo* determinations about whether O'Keefe's termination would serve the good of the public service and whether O'Keefe's misconduct was "serious" under NRS 284.383. 1RA047-52. However, because NRS 284.385(1)(a) vests only appointing authorities with the power to conduct the "good of the public service" assessment, and NRS

The *Knapp* Court also quoted NAC 284.798's statement that "[t]he hearing officer shall make no assumptions of innocence or guilt but shall be guided in his decision by the weight of the evidence as it appears to him at the hearing." 111 Nev. at 424, 892 P.2d at 577. This statement is reconcilable with NRS 284.385 and NRS 284.390 because it simply means that the hearing officer should not make assumptions about the presence of substantial evidence of innocence or guilt. *See Roberts v. State*, 104 Nev. 33, 37, 752 P.2d 221, 223 (1988) ("Administrative regulations cannot contradict or conflict with the statute they are intended to implement.").

284.390(6) restricts hearing officers to reviewing the appointing authority's conclusion for "just cause"—defined in *Southwest Gas* as substantial evidence—the Hearing Officer applied an incorrect standard of review and did not defer to DMV's decision.

Moreover, the Hearing Officer did not possess the authority to make her own determination that O'Keefe's misconduct was not "serious" under NRS 284.383. NAC 284.646(1) allows an appointing authority to dismiss an employee for any cause set forth in NAC 284.650 if the agency has adopted policies governing dismissal and the seriousness of the conduct warrants dismissal. NAC 284.650 contains the administrative provisions that the Hearing Officer found O'Keefe violated. NAC 284.650(1) (activity incompatible with conditions of employment); NAC 284.650(6) (insubordination or willful disobedience); NAC 284.650(18) (misrepresentation of official capacity); *see also* 1RA048. NAC 284.646(2)(b) also allows immediate dismissal for "[u]nauthorized release or use of confidential information."

Similarly, DMV has adopted policies in the form of the Prohibitions and Penalties controlling employee dismissal. NAC 284.646(1)(a). The Personnel Commission has approved these policies and the designation of certain conduct as first-time terminable offenses. NRS 284.383; AA113-15. Consequently, by administrative regulation or internal policy, O'Keefe's conduct has been deemed "serious" as a matter of law, and the Hearing Officer did not have the power to override those designations and adopt her own definition of "seriousness." Once the Hearing Officer found (as she did) that substantial evidence existed to support DMV's

conclusion that O'Keefe committed a "serious" offense, the analysis should have been at its end.

IV. CONCLUSION

For these reasons, DMV respectfully requests that the Court accept O'Keefe's Petition for review, clarify the appropriate standard of review, and affirm the District Court.